2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee vs. Dalton Thomas, Defendant/
Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court abused its discretion by ordering Thomas to make complete restitution as court-ordered restitution1

 The trial court did not adequately consider Thomas’s financial resources, the burden of restitution, or the other circumstances making complete restitution inappropriate as a condition of probation.....2

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT3

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 24

ADDENDA

 Utah Code §77-38a-302

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATUTORY PROVISIONS AND RULES

CASES

IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF UTAH,

Plaintiff / Appellee,

vs.

DALTON THOMAS,

Defendant / Appellant.

Case No: 20150624-CA

REPLY BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ORDERING THOMAS TO MAKE COMPLETE RESTITUTION AS COURT-ORDERED RESTITUTION

The State's brief succinctly argues that the trial court's court-ordered restitution order was proper, and asserts that Thomas only appeals because the court "merely came to a different conclusion than Thomas would have liked." Appellee's Brief at 6. Thomas now acknowledges the almost impossible task created by the appellate standards of review. It cannot be doubted that when a trial court decides an issue, regardless of how much impact that issue may have in a defendant's life, if it is an issue to which the trial court will be afforded discretion, that decision is in reality all but beyond the scope of appellate review. It is in the face of these dismal odds that Thomas asserts that the trial

court abused its discretion when it ordered Thomas to pay, as a condition of his probation, the entire amount of complete restitution.

The trial court did not adequately consider Thomas's financial resources, the burden of restitution, or the other circumstances making complete restitution inappropriate as a condition of probation.

Thomas's initial brief argued that the trial court did not consider Thomas's financial resources in any reasonable way because a reasonable person could not have found that \$125 per month out of \$1000 gross income was reasonable. Appellant's Brief at 10. The State contests that because the record reveals the trial court was made aware of "Thomas's present earnings" that it therefore "took full account" of the financial resources required by the statute. Appellee's Brief at 8. But this simplistic view of a trial court's discretion leads to an unreasonable dilemma. If a trial court is always presumed to have acted within its discretion whenever it is made aware of the facts it must consider then there defendants are placed in a no-win situation. If the defendant fails to bring these facts to the trial court's attention then the issues are not preserved, but if the facts are raised then the trial court's decision cannot be reviewed. This cannot be the meaning of appellate review. Instead, as explained in Thomas's opening brief, the question on review is whether any reasonable person would conclude that Thomas's limited financial resources should not have any effect upon the court-ordered restitution. See Appellant's Brief at 9. The amounts of complete restitution and court-ordered restitution are only identical if the statutory factors that must be considered when a court makes the court-ordered amount have no effect.

Thomas asserts that no reasonable person would conclude that the court-ordered restitution should not be affected by his limited financial resources, his part-time \$10/hour job, his financial obligations to pay fines, supervision fees, and medication, and his mental health concerns and treatment needs. Any reasonable person, under the circumstances, would find that the court-ordered restitution should be less than the complete amount of restitution. The trial court ignored the real world considerations it was statutorily obligated to consider and instead ruled that despite all these concerns it wanted Thomas to pay complete restitution or risk violating probation and being sent to prison. This is not a question of whether or not Thomas owed the victim the money damages, that much was established by stipulation. This is a question about what conditions can be ordered by the court as a condition of probation, as a legal requirement for Thomas to avoid a violation of the terms of his suspended sentence. This is why the legislature made the distinction between the two kinds of restitution, because Thomas should not run the risk of being sent to prison because he is too poor to pay the monthly restitution amount ordered by the court. That is why the legislature made consideration of these factors a requirement before the trial court can make a court-ordered restitution part of probation conditions. And this is why the trial court's order was an abuse of its discretion.

CONCLUSION AND PRECISE RELIEF SOUGHT

Because the district court abused its discretion in ordering Thomas to pay the full amount of complete restitution as the amount of court-ordered restitution this Court

should reverse the restitution order and remand for a determination of court-ordered restitution consistent with the statutory factors.