2016

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee vs. Dalton Thomas, Defendant/ Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant appeals from a restitution order following convictions for burglary and criminal mischief, third degree felonies. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e) (West Supp. 2012).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Defendant Dalton Thomas kicked open the door of a newly-constructed home and took a hatchet to the walls, cabinets, and other items inside, causing extensive damage. Through plea negotiations, Thomas pled guilty to reduced charges and was placed on probation. The parties stipulated to a complete restitution amount of \$10,629. Thomas requested a hearing to present evidence of his ability to pay for purposes of court-ordered restitution.

At the hearing, Thomas and his father testified about his income—estimated at about \$1000 per month—and expenses—totaling approximately \$182, but likely to increase. The trial court ordered that Thomas pay the full \$10,629 in monthly installments of \$125, because it did not “see a rational reason not to attempt to make the victim whole,” and the amount approximated the “cost of a used car,” which was “something that someone of” Thomas’s “age might reasonably buy.” Further, though Thomas’s expenses would likely increase, the court explained that his earning potential would as well. But the court ruled that Thomas could comply with the restitution order even if his earnings did not increase.

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by ordering Thomas to pay the full restitution amount?

Standard of Review. Review is for abuse of discretion. *State v. Laycock*, 2009 UT 53, ¶28, 214 P.3d 104.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The following constitutional provisions, statutes, and rules are reproduced in Addendum A:

Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302 (restitution statute).¹

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, citations are to the current code, which has not substantively changed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of facts.²

Thomas kicked in the door of a newly-constructed home in Orem and took a hatchet to the cabinets, walls, interior doors, and other items inside, causing extensive damage. R2-3.

B. Summary of proceedings.

The State charged Thomas with burglary of a dwelling and criminal mischief, both second degree felonies. R1-2. Through plea negotiations, Thomas pled guilty to burglary and criminal mischief as third degree felonies. R19-30, 67.

The victim requested restitution in the amount of \$10,629. R32, 34. Thomas stipulated that this amount reflected complete restitution, but requested a hearing on court-ordered restitution, so that the court could factor in evidence of his ability to pay. R71-76.

Before the hearing, Thomas submitted a financial declaration in which he stated that he would be earning approximately \$1000 per month, and have monthly expenses of about \$160—\$80 for transportation, \$50 for a cell phone, and \$30 for monthly supervision fees, though the supervision amount was likely to increase. R46-52.

² Because Thomas pled guilty before preliminary hearing, the State takes the facts from the Information and probable cause statement.

At the hearing, both Thomas and his father testified. On his income, Thomas explained that he had a new job at Little Caesar's and would be earning about \$1000 per month. R47, R87-88. His expenses included \$30 per month in supervision fees to Adult Probation and Parole, though he expected that amount to increase because he was employed; \$50 per month for a cell phone; and \$22 per month for medication. R52, 88-89, 91. He also testified that he was receiving substance abuse and mental health treatment, but that his mother's insurance covered that. R88-89. He had few living expenses because he was living with his father rent-free, and would only be expected to contribute to his food expenses when he had income. R89, 92. Thomas's father testified that Thomas would be expected to contribute to both his food, gas, and utilities after taking into account "his fines and his medication," and that the father drove Thomas around "to help him out and get him to where he needs to get to." R94.

The trial court noted the full restitution amount and Thomas's age of 22, and ruled that there was no "reason he can't pay this off if I give him enough time. I think he should. It seems to me that having this paid off and behind him by the time he turns 30 is a reasonable time to have that done." R95. Dividing up the payments over that period of time came out to \$125 per month. *Id.* The court noted that this amount was "doable" given

Thomas's current salary and his "limited expenses," and noted that Thomas was going to get his GED, he would likely be able to get a better job. R95-96.

Defense counsel agreed that some restitution was appropriate, but objected to the full amount because Thomas was "receiving mental health treatment"; he was making only \$1000 per month, and "we don't know that he's going to be able to get better employment"; that the full amount was "astronomical" and "impose[d] a great burden" on him. R97-98.

The trial court found that the amount was not "astronomical," and that though the defendant "struggles and has disabilities," the court was "satisfied that he's capable of earning at least" \$1000 per month "going forward." R98. The court noted that it had looked to the factors that defense counsel noted, and was "satisfied" that the order was "reasonable and appropriate." *Id.* The court further noted that Thomas could "get a better job or find another way to pay" the restitution sooner than the 8 years allotted, and that the restitution amount was "the cost of a used car" which was "something that someone of" Thomas's "age might reasonably buy." R99.

Thomas timely appealed. R57.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Thomas has not shown that the trial court abused its discretion in imposing \$10,629 restitution. The trial court took all of the evidence into account and properly ruled that Thomas was able to make the victim whole if given enough time, making \$125 payments over the course of eight years.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly exercised its broad discretion to order full restitution.

Thomas's sole argument on appeal is that the trial court abused its discretion by ordering him to pay \$10,629 in restitution because the record shows that paying \$125 per month toward restitution on a \$1000 per month gross salary shows that the court did not take proper account of his "financial resources" and the "burden" of repayment on him, as the restitution statute requires. Appt.Br. 9-12. The record defeats this claim, and shows that the trial court properly considered the relevant statutory factors. It merely came to a different conclusion than Thomas would have liked.

"When a defendant is convicted of criminal activity that has resulted in pecuniary damages," the court is required to "order that the defendant make restitution to" his victim(s). Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(1). There is

no dispute that Thomas's conduct "resulted in pecuniary damages" to the homebuilder.

The trial court was required to determine both "complete restitution" and "court-ordered restitution." *Id.* § 77-38a-302(2). Thomas stipulated here that complete restitution—that is, the amount "necessary to compensate [the] victim for all losses caused by" him, *id.* at -302(2)(A)—was \$10,629. R71-76. And he did not dispute the propriety of some court-ordered restitution—that is, an amount he would "pay as part of the criminal sentence." Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(2)(b)—he only disputed the amount. R97-98.

When determining court-ordered restitution, trial courts take into account the loss to the victim, "the financial resources of the defendant," "the burden that payment of restitution will impose, with regard to the other obligations of the defendant," "the ability of the defendant to pay restitution on an installment basis," "the rehabilitative effect on the defendant," and "other circumstances that the court determines may make restitution inappropriate." Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(5)(c).

Trial courts have wide discretion in determining this amount. *Laycock*, 2009 UT 53. Such an order is overturned only for an abuse of discretion—that is, if "no reasonable person would take the view adopted

by the trial court.” *State v. Corbitt*, 2003 UT App 417, ¶6, 82 P.3d 211 (citation, quotation, and alteration omitted).

The trial court properly exercised its discretion here. The court had before it the cost to the victim, Thomas’s financial resources, the burden that restitution would impose, and Thomas’s ability to pay in installments. A reasonable person in the trial court’s position could determine that Thomas was able to pay at least \$125 per month while making at least \$1000 per month, given Thomas’s monthly expenses of less than \$200. *Cf. State v. Wallace*, 2006 UT 86, ¶¶3, 12-15, 150 P.3d 540 (upholding imposition of 12-year probation term to pay \$626,000 restitution, even though trial court recognized “the unlikelihood of Wallace ever being able to pay off the entire amount”).

Thomas offers a number of arguments to show an abuse of discretion, none of them availing. He first asserts that the trial court “did not consider [his] ‘financial resources’ in any reasonable way.” Aplt.Br. 10. But as shown, the record refutes this: the trial court took full account of Thomas’s present earnings, and ruled that he could pay in installments even projecting his current level of income over the probationary term. R95-99.

Thomas also asserts that the court did “not reasonably consider the burden that a \$125 per month payment would be upon” him “in light of his

other financial obligations,” and did not “properly consider how difficult it would be to pay” this amount “for eight years for someone with” his “limited resources.” Aplt.Br. 11. But the trial court was fully aware of Thomas’s income and expenses—it simply disagreed that the burden was as great as defense counsel asserted. R98.

Finally, Thomas argues that the trial court should have found that Thomas’s “mental health conditions” and “employment limitations” precluded the amount of court-ordered restitution. Aplt.Br. 11. But Thomas’s out-of-pocket expenses for mental health treatment were only \$22 per month for medication, as his mother’s insurance apparently covered the rest. R52, 88-89. And the trial court ruled that Thomas was capable of improving his employment prospects by obtaining his GED. R95-96. Thomas presented no evidence below that his bipolar disorder prevents him from doing this.